
COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES     November 26, 2012 

Page 1 of 8 

The regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Front Royal, Virginia was held on 
November 26, 2012, in the Warren County Government Center’s Board Meeting Room. Mayor 
Darr led Council and those attending in the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag and a Moment of 
Silence. The roll was called at 7:00 p.m. 
 

PRESENT:  Mayor Timothy W. Darr 
Vice Mayor N. Shae Parker 
Councilman Daryl L. Funk 
Councilman Bret W. Hrbek 
Councilman Thomas H. Sayre 
Councilman Eugene R. Tewalt 
Councilman Hollis L. Tharpe 
Town Manager Steven M. Burke, P.E. 
Town Attorney Douglas W. Napier 
Clerk of Council Jennifer E. Berry, CMC 

 
 

(The above listed members represent the full body of Council as authorized in the Town 
Charter.) 
 

Vice Mayor Parker moved, seconded by Councilman Tewalt, that Council approve the Regular Council Meeting 
minutes of November 13, 2012 as presented. 
 

Vote: Yes – Funk, Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – N/A 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

RECEIPT OF PETITIONS OR CORRESPONDENCE FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

Robert Crouch, of 126 W. 5th Street, noted that he asked that they look into 125 W. 5th Street, 
which belongs to a member of the Duncan Family. He opined that it was a public health hazard 
grown up in weeds, underbrush and trash. Mr. Crouch voiced concern for the children in the 
community, noting that he had filed many complaints as it was destroying the property value of 
the neighborhood. He added that some action was taken, though no adequate action had 
occurred. Mr. Crouch asked that Council take action to investigate the health and fire hazards at 
the property, and he noted that there were many feral cats in the area at one time. 
 
Mayor Darr asked that the site be looked into, stating that the matter needed to be addressed. 
He noted that Council could be updated at a worksession. Councilman Tewalt asked that Staff 
move forward with whatever could be done prior to the worksession. Councilman Sayre stated 
that he understood that Mr. Crouch had contacted the Town many times regarding the issue. 
 
REPORT OF THE MAYOR, COUNCIL & STAFF 
 

Mr. Burke: 
 Reported that the Christmas Tree Lighting would be Friday, November 

30th, and the parade would be held Saturday, December 1st; 
 Noted that the street contractor would hopefully be returning to the 

Remount Road site for paving during the warmer weather next week; 
 Reminded the citizenry that the Town taxes would soon be due; 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES     November 26, 2012 

Page 2 of 8 

 Stated that the Channel 16 issues were being looked into and they were 
working with the Town’s IT Manager; and 

 Announced that the Town does have their 2012 Christmas Ornament 
for sale at the Town’s Visitor Center. 

 

Doug Stanley, Warren County Administrator, presented the following report to Council: 

Building Inspections –Through 2011 Warren County had a total of 57 new home 
starts.  Through October 31st the County has a total of 58 new home starts for 2012.  
Of this total, 13 have been located within the limits of the Town of Front Royal.  This 
represents the first year the County has had an increase in new home starts since 2005.  
Hopefully this is a positive sign for the local economy. 

Development Review Committee – The Development Review Committee met on 
October 24th and will meet again this Wednesday.  In October, they discussed the 
proposed rezoning of the Payne property on Rt. 340/522 in the County, the proposed 
VFW flea market in the Town, the proposed Town electrical substation on Rt. 55 West, 
two potential bakeries in the Town, potential coffee roasting business in the Town, a 
potential pawn shop and a potential cabinet shop. They received updates on several 
ongoing projects as well.  The Committee continues to enhance communication 
between the Town and County, other agencies, and applicants to help streamline review 
processes.    

Front Royal Limited Partnership BLA Request – The Warren County Planning 
Commission, at its meeting on November 14th, forwarded a recommendation on the 
Front Royal Limited Partnership (FRLP) boundary adjustment request.  A letter and 
staff report has been forwarded to the Board. 

Comprehensive Plan – The Warren County Planning Commission will hold a public 
hearing on the draft Warren County Comprehensive Plan at its meeting on December 
12, 2012.   

Eastham Trail/Phase II – The environmental review for the project has been 
completed and we are currently waiting for VDOT to give us authorization to advertise.  
We hope that we will be able to begin clearing for the project in the next several weeks 
and put it out to bid in the next month. 

Community Center – A site plan for the proposed parking lot expansion at the 
Warren County Community Center has been sent to the Town for approval and will be 
on the Town’s Planning Commission agenda for this Wednesday.  The expansion will 
increase the number of available parking spaces from 30 to 69 which meets the Town 
zoning requirement.  This project, along with the recently completed sidewalk project at 
Villa Avenue and Kendrick Lane, should add ample spaces to handle most events at the 
facility. 

DSS Implementation Plan – The final item that needs to be completed from the 
Management Review of the Social Services Department is the development of a 
strategic plan for the Department.  Over the past two weeks work started on the 
strategic plan.  Led by staff from the Weldon Cooper Center at the University of 
Virginia, work with the Director, County Administrator, Advisory Board and 
Department leadership has commenced. The strategic plan will be completed by the 
end of the year. 

Skyline Soccerplex – County staff has been cleared to proceed with construction of a 
maintenance building to serve the site.  The building will replace the sea container that 
has been used to store equipment since the site was opened. 

 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES     November 26, 2012 

Page 3 of 8 

In response to Mr. Hrbek’s questions, Mr. Stanley noted that the County expects to have an 
answer on the Front Royal Limited Partnership matter by the Town’s January meeting. Mr. 
Stanley also noted that the Villa Avenue Community center parking lot would be in the rear of 
the structure. 
 
Mayor Darr asked about the renovation at the old 15th Street Middle School. Mr. Stanley stated 
that the roof project would be completed as money becomes available. Mayor Darr noted that 
some neighbors contacted him about some of the lightweight material blowing around the 
building site. He added that the building really looks nice thus far. Mr. Stanley noted that he 
would look into the blowing materials. 
 
Councilman Sayre asked about the benches built recently. Mr. Stanley noted that the Eagle 
Scouts had built several benches at the dog park. 
 
Councilman Tewalt asked about the sound of the system that recorded the government 
meetings. Mr. Burke noted that it seemed to be an issue with the old SVHS system, and with 
the new digital media perhaps it would not be an issue. Mr. Tewalt stated that he has received 
calls with the new system. 
 
Councilman Funk noted that, with regard to Item #9 (Water & Sewer Connections), he had 
recused himself at the worksession and he asked the Town Attorney if he would need to recuse 
himself during this first reading. Mr. Napier noted that perhaps he should.  
 
Councilman Sayre stated that Buddy Smallwood noted that there had been a bear problem on 
Easterly Street. He asked about what else the citizens could do. Mr. Burke reminded citizens to 
always remove the food sources and bear proof their containers if need be. He stated that they 
had not had any concerns or requests to bear proof the containers in said area. 
 
Mayor Darr noted that he attended the Blue Ridge Arts Annual Deck the Halls event and the 
Salvation Army’s Kettle Kick Off. He announced that the Christkindlmarkt begins Friday, and 
Saturday will be the annual Kiwanis Pancake Day and the Christmas parade as well. Mayor Darr 
added that he would be doing to the lighting of the Christmas tree at the hospital during the 
weekend also. He reminded the citizenry to be cautious during the Town’s busy holiday season. 
 
Mayor Darr presented the 225th Anniversary contest winner, Ms. Jody West, with her reward 
check and congratulated her on her winning entry. He noted that there were 19 applicants and 
every logo submitted was very well done. 
 
Mayor Darr asked if there were any proposals for additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
Councilman Tewalt moved, seconded by Councilman Funk, that Council remove Item #11 – Water Loop 
Study until discussion at a worksession. 
 
Councilman Sayre questioned why Councilman Tewalt would prefer to remove the water study 
item. Councilman Tewalt stated that he picked up the study today and reviewed it this 
afternoon. He explained that he felt that should the Town complete another study, they would 
most likely obtain the same results. Mr. Tewalt noted that he felt that the Town could do 
without the study that had previously been submitted.  
 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES     November 26, 2012 

Page 4 of 8 

Councilman Tharpe asked about the study as presented. Mr. Tewalt noted that even though 
time had passed, the previous water study would still be applicable. 

 

Vote: Yes – Funk, Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – N/A 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

(By Roll Call) 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS  
A. COUNCIL APPROVAL – Waiver of Christmas Tree License Tax – Boy Scout Troop 52 
B. COUNCIL APPROVAL – Bid - Breakers for Sprint Substation 
 

Councilman Sayre moved, seconded by Councilman Tharpe, that Council approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented. 
 

Vote: Yes – Funk, Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – N/A 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

(By Roll Call) 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING: An Amendment to the FY2012-2013 Budget 
 

Mayor Darr opened the public hearing. As no one came forward to speak, he closed the public 
hearing. 
 

Councilman Hrbek moved, seconded by Councilman Tewalt, that Council approve an amendment to the FY 
2012-2013 Budget to increase the budget amount by $5,724,489.61 to bring forward unpaid balances on 
purchase orders not completed at the end of June 2012 [FY12], for a total budget of $43,264,647.61, as 
presented: 

1000-3510110 General Fund Fund Balance $  492,795.67 

                                    9401-3510110 Electric Fund Balance  $  884,464.44 

                                    1800-3510110 Special Projects   $  144,097.45 

                                    9601-3510110 Water Fund Balance  $  212,298.59 

                                    9801-3510110 Sewer Fund Balance  $3,615,587.62 

                                    4203-3510110 Refuse Fund Balance  $     25,421.45 

                         4500-3510110 Street Fund Balance   $   349,824.39 
 

Mrs. Breeden noted that it was a housekeeping matter that comes before Council annually after 
the audit is complete. She stated that it required a public hearing due to the amount, and if 
Council would notice that $884,000 was from the Electric Fund (Substation). Mrs. Breeden 
added that other amounts were the Sewer Fund amount and the I&I issues as well. She pointed 
out that it also contained renovations to the Administration Building. She explained that it was 
received funds, as purchases had already been made, and it was a matter of bringing the funding 
forward. 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES     November 26, 2012 

Page 5 of 8 

 

Vote: Yes – Funk, Hrbek, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – Parker 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

(By Roll Call) 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

PUBLIC HEARING: Amendments to Section 134-1 D, Extension Moratorium Areas, 
Pertaining to Water and Sewer Connections (1st Reading) 
 

Councilman Funk made the following disclosure for the record: 

Based on an opinion from the Town Attorney, I elect to disqualify myself from 
participating in item 9 of tonight’s agenda, regarding Section 134-1 “Connections: 
Defining Exemption Areas”. My law firm represents businesses and/or individuals in 
the affected areas. It is my understanding that the Code of Professional responsibility 
governing ethical conduct among attorneys will not allow me to disclose the names 
and addresses of those clients of my firm because to do so would cause me to breach 
my duty of confidentiality towards those clients. However, that information will be 
revealed in accordance with a lawful judicial directive. Thank you. 

 

Mayor Darr opened the public hearing. As no one came forward to speak, he closed the public 
hearing. 
 

Vice Mayor Parker moved, seconded by Councilman Tharpe, that Council affirm on its first reading 
Amendments to Town Code Section 134.1-D, Extension Moratorium Areas, pertaining to Water & Sewer 
Connections as presented. 
 

Vote: Yes – Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt and Tharpe 
No – Sayre 
Abstain – Funk 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

(By Roll Call) 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

PUBLIC HEARING and RECOMMENDATION: Amendments to the Charter of the 
Town of Front Royal 
 

Mayor Darr opened the public hearing. 
 

Robert Crouch, of 126 W. 5th Street, noted that changing the elections from May to November 
would create a “bed sheet” type of ballot. He stated that after the President, the Senate and a 
number of amendments, the Town Council would be listed all the way at the end of the ballot. 
Mr. Crouch noted that it would be preferred to keep the elections in May as they are to keep 
matters specific to the Town Council only. He stated that it could sway voter opinion with 
those riding on the coat tails of those in the national spotlight 
 

As no one else came forward to speak, Mayor Darr closed the public hearing. 
 

Vice Mayor Parker moved, seconded by Councilman Tewalt, that Council recommend Amendments to the 
Charter of the Town of Front Royal, Virginia, Chapter 200, Town of Front Royal, Virginia Municipal Code, 
to the General Assembly. 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES     November 26, 2012 

Page 6 of 8 

 

Councilman Funk stated that he considered having the Staff check the number of hours they 
have spent regarding the May/November subject. He noted that he would most likely not vote 
for the Charter amendments as presented. Mr. Funk stated that he had reviewed the chart 
submitted by Ms. Allen and he had concerns with the statistics as presented, specifically related 
to the turn-out of voters of presidential versus non-presidential elections. He pointed out that 
as they attempted to make the Town elections non-partisan, they were actually inserting partisan 
matters into the election. 
 
Councilman Funk noted that his other concern was the forcible non-partisan elections in the 
Charter as it has been presented. He stated that the Town may not be able, by law, to move 
forward with the proposed Charter. Councilman Funk opined that he did not believe that the 
Charter will pass the General Assembly as presented. He added that he had a real concern with 
partisanship becoming a portion of the Town’s election. 
 
Councilman Tharpe stated that he would support the motion most likely, as it seems as though 
the majority of Council would be going in that direction. He noted that having the elections 
remain in May was for the best though, in his opinion. 
 
Councilman Hrbek noted that while he would prefer the odd years, he would support the 
Charter change as presented. He did ask about Section 10 in Chapter 3, regarding the 
Composition and Election (number of members). Vice Mayor Parker pointed out that it was 
redundant text and it was actually listed on page 8 of the document as shown. 
 
Councilman Hrbek asked for clarification from Section 6 relating to salaries. Mr. Napier opined 
that it would be three members having different salaries in order to prevent Council voting to 
raise their own salaries. 
 
Councilman Funk asked about a typo within Section 6 (C) and (D). Mr. Napier and Vice Mayor 
Parker stated that the renumbering, formatting and typographical errors would be edited before 
final submission. 
 
Councilman Sayre noted that he had reservations though he would vote for the Charter changes 
as presented. 
 

Vote: Yes – Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – Funk 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

(By Roll Call) 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

COUNCIL APPROVAL: Additional Funding for the Administration Building 
Renovation 
 

Councilman Hrbek moved, seconded by Councilman Tharpe, that Council approve additional funding not to 
exceed $25,000 for Finance Department Area’s enclosure and punch out items that may incur between now and 
the end of the renovation. He further moved that all unused funds revert back to fund balances. 
 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES     November 26, 2012 

Page 7 of 8 

Mr. Burke noted that the Town conducted renovations thus far, including roof renovations, an 
elevator installation, HVAC work, etc. He added that some bids have been received for the 
work, including the locks/security, the ADA compliant doors, and the enclosure to secure the 
Finance Department from the rest of the building as well. Mr. Burke stated that with the 
adjustments versus the budgeted amount, it resulted in a $25,000 shortfall. 
 
Councilman Hrbek asked about why the Town was closing off the teller portion of the building. 
Mr. Burke stated that the main entrance of the building would be used at times when the 
Finance Department would not be staffed, such as during worksessions and other events. He 
added that closing the Finance section would also allow the area time to close out their teller 
windows at the end of the day. 
 
Vice Mayor Parker asked if the Town only overran their original amount budgeted by $25,000. 
Mr. Burke stated that based on the bids, it seems to be an accurate amount. He added that they 
anticipate the grand opening to be held in January. 
 

Vote: Yes – Funk, Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – N/A 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

(By Roll Call) 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

CLOSED MEETING: Personnel Matter 
 

Vice Mayor Parker moved, seconded by Councilman Tewalt, that Council convene and go into a Closed Meeting 
for the purpose of assignment, promotion, performance, demotion, salaries, disciplining or resignation of specific, 
public officers, appointees, or employees of a public body, pursuant to Section 2.2-3711A.1 of the Code of 
Virginia. 
 

Vote: Yes – Funk, Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – N/A 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Vice Mayor Parker moved, seconded by Councilman Tharpe, that Council certify that to the best of each 
member’s knowledge as recognized by each Council member’s affirmative vote, that only such public business 
matters lawfully exempted from Open Meeting requirements under the Virginia Freedom of Information Act as 
were identified in the motion by which the Closed Meeting was convened; were heard, discussed or considered 
during the Closed Meeting by Council; and that the   
 

Vote: Yes – Darr, Funk, Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – N/A 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 

(By Roll Call) 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

COUNCIL APPROVAL: Clerk of Council 
 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES     November 26, 2012 

Page 8 of 8 

Vice Mayor Parker moved, seconded by Councilman Tharpe, that Council approve an amendment to the FY 
2012-2013 Budget to transfer $540 from 1000-3510110 General Fund – Fund Balances to 1102-41003 
Clerk of Council Part-Time Salaries; he further moved that Council direct the Town Manager to award the 
Clerk of Council a one-time bonus consistent with other part-time employees as included in the adopted FY 
2012-2013 Budget. 
 

Vote: Yes – Funk, Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – N/A 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

COUNCIL APPROVAL: Town Manager Contract/Vacation Time 
 

Vice Mayor Parker moved, seconded by Councilman Tharpe, that Council approve the purchase back of forty 
hours of vacation time from the Town Manager per his contract for employment, said funds to be provided from 
salaries in the Town Manager budget. 

 

Vote: Yes – Funk, Hrbek, Parker, Tewalt, Tharpe and Sayre 
No – N/A 
Abstain – N/A 
Absent – N/A 
(Mayor Darr did not vote as there was no tie to require his vote) 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

There being no further business, the Mayor declared the meeting adjourned at 8:04 p.m. 
 
                                                                                   APPROVED: 

 
                                               ___________________________   

       Jennifer E. Berry 
Clerk of Council 


